UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
NATIONAL HIGHWAY TRAFFIC SAFETY ADMINISTRATION
1200 New Jersey Avenue SE
Washington, DC 20590
____________________________________
In re:
)
)
TQ14-001
)
NHTSA Recall No. 14V-047
)
____________________________________)
CONSENT ORDER
This Consent Order is based on the agreement of the National Highway Traffic Safety
Administration (“NHTSA”), an operating component of the U.S. Department of Transportation,
and General Motors Company (“GM”) to resolve claims associated with NHTSA’s Timeliness
Query TQ14-001 under the terms and conditions incorporated herein.
I.

NATURE OF THE ACTION
1.

The National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act of 1966 as amended and

recodified (the “Safety Act”), 49 U.S.C. § 30101, et seq., provides for regulation of motor
vehicles and motor vehicle equipment by the Secretary of Transportation. 49 U.S.C. § 30111.
The Secretary has delegated his authorities under the Safety Act to the NHTSA Administrator,
49 C.F.R. §§ 1.95(a), 501.2(a)(1). This delegation includes the authority to compromise the
amount of civil penalties for violations of the Safety Act and regulations prescribed thereunder.
See 49 U.S.C. § 30165(b); 49 C.F.R. § 1.95.
2.

Under the Safety Act, a manufacturer of motor vehicles has a duty to notify

NHTSA and owners, purchasers, and dealers of a vehicle if the manufacturer learns the vehicle
contains a defect and decides in good faith that the defect is related to motor vehicle safety. 49
U.S.C. § 30118(c)(1). The manufacturer must provide this notice to NHTSA not more than five
working days after a defect in a vehicle has been determined to be safety related. 49 C.F.R.

§ 573.6(b). The manufacturer’s notice to NHTSA must be in the form specified by regulation,
and is known as a “Part 573 Report.” See 49 C.F.R. Part 573.
3.

A person that violates the notification requirements of the Safety Act or a

regulation prescribed thereunder is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of
not more than $7,000 for each violation. 49 U.S.C. § 30165(a)(1); 49 C.F.R. § 578.6(a). A
separate violation occurs for each motor vehicle and for each failure or refusal to allow or
perform a required act. 49 U.S.C. § 30165(a)(1); 49 C.F.R. § 578.6(a). The maximum penalty
for a related series of violations is $35,000,000. 49 U.S.C. § 30165(a)(1).
4.

GM is a manufacturer of motor vehicles within the meaning of the Safety Act, see

49 U.S.C. § 30102(a)(5), and a person within the meaning of 49 U.S.C. § 30165.
5.

On February 7, 2014, GM notified NHTSA that it determined that a defect, which

relates to motor vehicle safety, exists in 619,122 model year (“MY”) 2005-2007 Chevrolet
Cobalt and MY 2007 Pontiac G5 vehicles. According to GM’s Part 573 Report, the safetyrelated defect concerns a condition in which the vehicle’s ignition switch may unintentionally
move from the “run” position to the “accessory” or “off” position resulting in a loss of power.
GM indicated that this risk may be increased if the key ring is carrying added weight or the
vehicle goes off road or experiences some other impact related event. GM also indicated that in
some cases, the timing of the ignition switch movement relative to the activation of the sensing
algorithm of the crash event may result in the airbags not deploying. On February 24, 2014, GM
amended its Part 573 Report to include a more detailed chronology of principal events.
6.

On February 25, 2014, GM submitted a second Part 573 Report notifying NHTSA

that an additional 748,024 vehicles contain the same safety-related defect. Those additional
vehicles are the MY 2006-2007 Chevrolet HHR and Pontiac Solstice, MY 2003-2007 Saturn Ion,
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and MY 2007 Saturn Sky vehicles. On March 11, 2014, GM amended its February 25, 2014 Part
573 Report to include a more detailed chronology of principal events.
7.

On March 28, 2014, GM submitted a third Part 573 Report, indicating that the

same safety-related defect exists in service parts that may have been installed during repairs in
some MY 2008-2010 Chevrolet Cobalt, MY 2008-2011 Chevrolet HHR, MY 2008-2010 Pontiac
Solstice, MY 2008-2010 Pontiac G5, and MY 2008-2010 Saturn Sky vehicles. This Part 573
Report expanded the recall to another 823,788 vehicles.
8.

GM is obligated to conduct a recall with regard to the safety-related defect

identified in the Part 573 Reports described in Paragraphs 5-7. GM is conducting this recall,
which affects a total population of 2,190,934 vehicles in the United States. NHTSA has
designated this recall as NHTSA Recall No. 14V-047.
9.

On February 26, 2014, NHTSA opened a civil enforcement investigation,

Timeliness Query TQ14-001, to evaluate the timing of GM’s defect decision-making and
reporting of the safety-related defect to NHTSA.
WHEREAS, it is the mutual desire of NHTSA and GM to resolve the Timeliness Query
without the need for further action, to avoid the legal expenses and other costs of a protracted
dispute and potential litigation;
THEREFORE, based on the agreement of the parties and pursuant to the authority of the
Secretary of Transportation to issue orders under the Safety Act, 49 U.S.C. § 30118(e) (as
delegated to the NHTSA Administrator, 49 C.F.R. § 1.50), it is ORDERED and AGREED as
follows:
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II.

TERMS OF CONSENT ORDER
10.

GM admits that it violated the Safety Act by failing to provide notice to NHTSA

of the safety-related defect that is the subject of Recall No. 14V-047 within five working days as
required by 49 U.S.C. § 30118(c)(1), 49 U.S.C. § 30119(c)(2), and 49 C.F.R. § 573.6(b).
11.

GM shall pay the United States a maximum civil penalty for a related series of

violations in the sum of thirty-five million dollars ($35,000,000) for its failure to provide notice
to NHTSA of the safety-related defect that is the subject of Recall No. 14V-047 within five
working days. GM shall pay this civil penalty in one lump-sum payment by electronic funds
transfer to the U.S. Treasury in accordance with instructions provided by NHTSA, no later than
30 calendar days following execution of this Consent Order.
12.

Additionally, GM shall pay a civil penalty in the sum of seven thousand dollars

($7,000) for each day including April 4, 2014, and each day thereafter up to and including the
date on which GM provides the written factual report to NHTSA regarding the investigation
conducted by Anton Valukas, as required by Paragraph 15 below, for GM’s failure to fully
respond to NHTSA’s March 4, 2014 Special Order in TQ14-001 by the due date of April 3,
2014. GM shall pay these civil penalties in one lump-sum payment by electronic funds transfer
to the U.S. Treasury in accordance with instructions provided by NHTSA, no later than 30
calendar days following the last date on which civil penalties accrue pursuant to this Paragraph.
GM shall expeditiously carry out the remedy requirements of the Safety Act relating to Recall
No. 14V-047, including by endeavoring to make available the parts necessary to carry out repairs
in accordance with the schedule GM provided to NHTSA on April 25, 2014, which is attached
hereto as Exhibit A, and is hereby incorporated by reference. In the event that GM learns that
the parts availability schedule may be changed by more than five working days from the
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schedule provided to NHTSA on April 25, 2014, GM shall notify NHTSA in writing within 24
hours of receiving confirmation of any such change. During the last seven calendar days of GM’s
parts production, GM shall immediately notify NHTSA of any change that will impact
completion of GM’s parts production.
13.

No later than fifteen calendar days following execution of this Consent Order,

GM shall provide a comprehensive written plan to NHTSA of how GM intends to maximize its
completion rate for Recall No. 14V-047. The plan shall include, but not be limited to, steps that
GM will take to:
a. reduce the likelihood of slotted keys being reintroduced into the recall
population;
b. encourage owners of recalled vehicles whose native language is not English to
obtain a remedy, including through the use of communications in languages
other than English;
c. maintain its website with up-to-date information regarding the recall; and
d. engage with vehicle owners through new and traditional media, direct contacts
with vehicle owners, and other means.
14.

In addition to the quarterly reports required by 49 C.F.R. § 573.7, GM shall

submit reports regarding Recall No. 14V-047, pursuant to instructions provided by NHTSA, on a
biweekly basis for the first six months following execution of this Consent Order and on a
monthly basis thereafter for the term of this Consent Order.
15.

With respect to the investigation led by Anton Valukas,1 GM has requested Mr.

Valukas prepare a written factual report. GM shall provide a full and complete copy of the report
to NHTSA no later than June 30, 2014.

1

For purposes of this Consent Order, the investigation conducted by Anton Valukas
means the investigation referenced in the testimony of GM’s Chief Executive Officer Mary
Barra to the United States Congress on April 1 and 2, 2014.
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16.

GM shall meet with NHTSA no later than 30 calendar days following receipt of

the written factual report required by Paragraph 15 to discuss with NHTSA recommendations
resulting from the investigation conducted by Anton Valukas and their implementation at GM.
GM shall work with NHTSA to evaluate which recommendations are appropriate for
implementation and will develop a detailed written plan to implement any recommendations
deemed appropriate. GM shall meet with NHTSA on a monthly basis for one year to discuss
GM’s implementation of any recommendations NHTSA determines are appropriate. GM agrees
that, absent compelling circumstances, its Vice President of Global Vehicle Safety (currently Jeff
Boyer) will attend the meeting, along with any other GM officials who GM considers
appropriate attendees. NHTSA may extend the period of time for monthly meetings pursuant to
this Paragraph for up to the term of this Consent Order.
17.

GM represents that it has conducted a search of GM locations where documents

determined to be responsive to NHTSA’s March 4, 2014 Special Order would ordinarily be
expected to be found, and will produce the identified documents responsive to the Special Order
as of May 23, 2014 with the exception of customer complaint and field report records responsive
to Requests Four, Five and Six of the March 4, 2014 Special Order. GM shall fully and
substantively respond, including by producing all responsive documents identified through
specified custodians and search terms as of May 23, 2014, to each request in the March 4, 2014
Special Order that relates to an actual or potential ongoing safety issue (including the remedy for
Recall No. 14V-047) or for which GM has not provided a full and substantive response as of the
date of execution of this Consent Order. Specifically, GM shall fully and substantively respond
to Requests 2-3, 26-27, 58-59, 77, 95-96, 98, and 106-107. GM shall provide such responses
under oath, as required by the Special Order. With respect to Requests 4-6, GM shall produce
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the remaining documents determined to be responsive no later than 90 days after execution of
this Consent Order. GM shall produce the documents responsive to Requests 4-6 in their
original, unaltered form consistent with the format requirements specified by the Special Order.
Additionally, GM shall produce the documents responsive to Requests 4-6 in pdf or tiff format
with all personally identifiable information (PII) redacted. GM shall provide an index to the
remaining documents responsive to Requests 4-6 which shall include the name of the person
making the complaint or report, the name of the driver(s) of the vehicle(s) involved in any
accident or incident, the date of the accident or incident, and the model and model year of the
GM vehicle involved in the accident or incident.
18.

GM shall fully and substantively respond, including by producing all responsive

documents, to NHTSA’s April 4, 2014 Special Order concerning GM’s testing of the efficacy of
removing all items from a vehicle’s key ring, leaving only the vehicle key, to prevent inadvertent
movement of the ignition switch in any of the vehicles within the recall population for Recall
No. 14V-047.
19.

GM has established a process for its employees to report expeditiously concerns

regarding actual or potential safety-related defects2 or actual or potential noncompliance with
Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards. GM shall continue to review and strengthen this
reporting process, and rigorously enforce its non-retaliation policy for employees who report
concerns regarding actual or potential safety-related defects or potential noncompliance with
Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards. No later than three months following execution of this

2

For purposes of this Consent Order, “safety” refers to the performance of a motor
vehicle or motor vehicle equipment in a way that protects the public against unreasonable risk of
accidents occurring because of the design, construction, or performance of a motor vehicle, and
against unreasonable risk of death or injury in an accident, and includes nonoperational safety of
a motor vehicle. 49 U.S.C. § 30102(a)(8).
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Consent Order, GM shall provide NHTSA with written documentation describing the process
and policy described in this Paragraph.
20.

GM has initiated efforts to improve employee training regarding proper

documentation practices and to encourage discussion of safety issues, including discussion of
defects and safety consequences of defects. Such training will expressly disavow statements
diluting the safety message in the nature of certain statements in pages 33-44 of the attached
Exhibit B.
21.

GM shall improve and implement company processes for the purpose of

identifying and reporting safety-related defects more quickly. Such process improvements shall
include, but not be limited to changes for the purpose of:
a. improving GM’s ability to analyze data to identify potential safety-related
defects;
b. encouraging and improving information-sharing across functional areas and
disciplines;
c. increasing the speed with which recall decisions are made (including by
clarifying the recall decision-making process to decrease the number of steps
prior to making the final decision of whether to conduct a recall); and
d. improving communication with NHTSA regarding actual or potential safetyrelated defects.
GM shall discuss its proposed changes and the implementation of such changes with NHTSA
throughout the process of identifying and implementing process improvements. No later than
120 calendar days following execution of this Consent Order, GM shall submit a letter to
NHTSA outlining the process improvements it has made pursuant to the requirements of this
Paragraph. GM shall promptly respond to any feedback from NHTSA concerning GM’s
organizational restructuring pursuant to this Paragraph, including by making additional changes
to its organizational structure to address NHTSA’s feedback.
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22.

GM shall revise its product quality analytics to improve its ability to identify

safety consequences and the severity of those consequences, as well as to assess the number or
rate of allegations, complaints, incidents, reports and/or warranty claims relating to potential
safety-related defects. GM shall discuss its proposed revisions and the implementation of such
revisions with NHTSA throughout the process of revising its product quality analytics. No later
than 120 calendar days following execution of this Consent Order, GM shall submit a letter to
NHTSA outlining the revisions it has made to its product quality analytics pursuant to the
requirements of this Paragraph.
23.

GM shall meet with NHTSA no later than 120 calendar days after execution of

this Consent Order to conduct simulations—i.e., an exercise to discuss hypothetical scenarios,
for the purpose of assessing the effectiveness of the improvements resulting from Paragraphs 2122—and to discuss and identify further needed improvements. GM agrees that, absent
compelling circumstances, its Vice President of Global Vehicle Safety (currently Jeff Boyer) will
attend the meeting, along with any other GM officials whom GM considers appropriate
attendees. GM shall promptly respond to any feedback from NHTSA following this meeting,
including by making additional improvements under Paragraphs 21-22 to address NHTSA’s
feedback. To the extent that such additional improvements are warranted and at NHTSA’s
request, GM shall conduct additional simulations no later than 30 days following NHTSA’s
request.
24.

GM shall not delay holding any meeting—including any meeting of GM’s

Executive Field Action Decision Committee (EFADC), Field Performance Evaluation
Recommendation Committee (FPERC), or other body charged with the responsibility of
determining the existence of a safety-related defect—to decide whether or not to recommend or
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conduct a safety recall because GM has not yet identified the precise cause of a defect, a remedy
for the defect, or prepared a plan for remedying the defect. GM shall ensure that any committee
or individual responsible for decision-making on safety recalls is informed of safety-related
concerns in a reasonably expeditious manner, including by ensuring that GM’s corporate
structure enables its safety organization to promptly bring safety-related issues to the attention of
committees and individuals with authority to make safety recall decisions.
25.

GM shall meet with NHTSA on a monthly basis for one year following the

execution of this Consent Order to report, in the manner specified by NHTSA, on new technical
service bulletins (TSBs) or other dealer communications, GM’s decision-making associated with
safety-related or high-frequency warranty claims or safety-related field reports, and any other
actual or potential safety-related defect issues. NHTSA may extend the period of time for
monthly meetings pursuant to this Paragraph for up to the term of this Consent Order.
26.

On a monthly basis for a period of one year, GM shall provide NHTSA with a

written list of every safety-related issue concerning vehicles already in the fleet that is under
consideration by any GM Product Investigator or otherwise under consideration by GM’s Global
Vehicle Safety organization. For each safety-related issue, the list shall include the model and
model year vehicles affected or potentially affected and a description of the safety-related issue.
Such reporting obligations will extend only to: (a) vehicles within GM’s United States fleet; (b)
other vehicles that are substantially similar to vehicles within GM’s United States fleet; and (c)
other vehicles that share common parts with vehicles within GM’s United States fleet.
27.

No later than 30 calendar days following execution of this Consent Order, GM

shall provide NHTSA with a comprehensive written plan regarding implementation of the
performance obligations required by this Consent Order.
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28.

GM shall meet with NHTSA on a quarterly basis to discuss implementation of the

performance obligations required by this Consent Order and GM shall address promptly all
concerns raised by NHTSA in those meetings. GM agrees that, absent compelling
circumstances, its Vice President of Global Vehicle Safety (currently Jeff Boyer), Director of
Field Product Investigations and Evaluations (currently Brian Latouf), and Global Public Policy
Director (currently Steve Gehring) will attend the quarterly meetings, along with any other GM
officials who GM considers appropriate attendees.
29.

NHTSA may consider remedial actions GM has taken prior to the execution of

this Consent Order in determining whether GM has carried out the performance requirements of
this Consent Order.
30.

GM agrees to use best efforts to cooperate with NHTSA in carrying out the

requirements of this Consent Order by, among other things, (i) GM’s Global Vehicle Safety
organization providing prompt notice to NHTSA in the event any requirement of this Consent
Order cannot be met or timely met, and (ii) ensuring employees involved with implementation of
the performance requirements of this Consent Order are kept well-informed about developments
and are allocated sufficient time during their working hours to prepare reports and to prepare for
meetings with NHTSA.
31.

GM shall provide written notice of each required submission under this Consent

Order by electronic mail to NHTSA’s Director, Office of Defects Investigation (currently Frank
Borris, Frank.Borris@dot.gov), and with a copy to NHTSA’s Chief Counsel (currently O. Kevin
Vincent, Kevin.Vincent@dot.gov).
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III.

TERM OF CONSENT ORDER
32.

Unless otherwise specified, the term of GM’s performance obligations under this

Consent Order is three years, provided, however, that the commitments in Paragraphs 19, 20 and
24 shall survive the term of this Consent Order.
IV.

AMENDMENT
33.

This Consent Order cannot be modified, amended or waived except by an

instrument in writing signed by all parties, and no provision may be modified, amended or
waived other than by a writing setting forth such modification, amendment or waiver and signed
by the party making the modification, amendment or waiver.
V.

INTERPRETATION CONSISTENT WITH FEDERAL LAW
34.

Nothing in this Consent Order shall be interpreted or construed in a manner

inconsistent with, or contravening, any Federal law, rule, or regulation at the time of the
execution of this Consent Order, or as amended thereafter.
VI.

FULL AND AUTHORIZED SETTLEMENT
35.

Upon receipt of the payment set forth in Paragraph 11 above, the Secretary of

Transportation, by and through the Administrator of NHTSA, releases GM, including its current
and former directors, officers, employees, agents, parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, successors, and
assigns from liability for civil penalties pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 30165 in connection with the
untimeliness of Recall No. 14V-047.
36.

Upon receipt of the payment set forth in Paragraph 12 above, the Secretary of

Transportation, by and through the Administrator of NHTSA, releases GM, including its current
and former directors, officers, employees, agents, parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, successors, and
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assigns from liability for civil penalties pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 30165 in connection with the
untimeliness of GM’s response to NHTSA’s March 4, 2014 Special Order.
37.

This Consent Order does not release GM from civil or criminal liabilities, if any,

that may be asserted by the United States, the Department of Transportation, NHTSA, or any
other governmental entity, other than its civil penalty liability under 49 U.S.C. § 30165 as
described in Paragraphs 35-36, above.
38.

The parties shall each bear their own respective attorneys’ fees, costs, and

expenses.
39.

This Consent Order shall be effective following the execution of this Consent

Order. Any breach of the obligations under this Consent Order shall be immediately enforceable
in any United States District Court. GM agrees that it will not raise any objection as to venue.
40.

This Consent Order constitutes the entire agreement regarding the resolution of

the subject matter therein, and supersedes any and all prior or contemporaneous written or oral
agreements or representations.
41.

The parties who are the signatories to this Consent Order have the legal authority

to enter into this Consent Order, and each party has authorized its undersigned to execute this
Consent Order on its behalf.
42.

This Consent Order shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, GM and its

current and former directors, officers, employees, agents, parents, subsidiaries, affiliates,
successors, and assigns.
43.

This Consent Order shall not be construed to create rights in, or grant any cause of

action to, any third party not party to this Consent Order.
[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]
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